FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/30/2023 2:30 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102324-3

Court of Appeals No. 837010

King County Superior Court Cause No. 19-2-31698-5 KNT

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CALLUM HERDSON, an individual,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

RICHARD FORTIN, ROBERT ENSLEN, XCAR INC., FTW SERVICES, INC., XCAR REMARKETING INC., CROSS BORDER VEHICLE SERVICES, INC., and CROSSBORDER VEHICLE SALES, LTD.,

Defendants/Appellants.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Daniel A. Brown, WSBA #22028 Sean D. Leake, WSBA #52658 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100

Seattle, WA 98101-2380

Tel: (206) 628-6600 Fax: (206) 628-6611

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Richard Fortin, Robert Enslen, XCar Inc., FTW Services, Inc., XCar Remarketing Inc., Cross Border Vehicle Services, Inc., and Crossborder Vehicle Sales, Ltd., ("Defendants"), Appellants in the Court of Appeals under Cause No. 837010-I, and Defendants in the Superior Court for King County, Cause No. 19-2-31698-5 KNT.

II. <u>CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS</u>

Defendants seek review of the Division One published opinion *Herdson v. Fortin et. al.*, 530 P.3d 220, No. 83701-0-I filed May 30, 2023 (Appendix A). Defendants moved for reconsideration pursuant to RAP 12.4, which Division One denied by Order filed July 31, 2023 (Appendix B).

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. Is review appropriate to resolve the question of whether proof of damages is a necessary element of a minority shareholder oppression claim under the statutory claim?

The Superior Court found damages were not a necessary element of a minority shareholder oppression claim, going so far as to dismiss all of Plaintiff's/Respondent's causes of action with the exception of minority shareholder oppression expressly because plaintiff had failed to prove damages. Division I of the Court of Appeals upheld the Superior Court's verdict. This is inconsistent with Scott v. Trans-System, 148 Wn.2d 701, 717 (2003), which holds minority shareholder oppression arises from shareholders fiduciary duties, and creates a split amongst the Court of Appeals, as Division III has expressly held otherwise in Roil Energy, LLC v. Edington, 195 Wn. App. 1030, No. 32577-6-III (2016) ("Because an action for shareholder oppression is linked to a breach of fiduciary duty, we hold that damages is an element of the cause of action for oppression of a minority owner").1

¹ Recognizing that *Roil* is an unpublished case, this still creates a split as to how appellate judges are handling these important statutory matters in two different divisions within the state. Indeed, the *Roil* court collected cases from across the country and

- 2. Is review appropriate to resolve whether the Court of Appeals and Superior Court erred in conflating "damages" as a necessary element of a minority shareholder oppression claim with the types of remedies available *after* proving all elements of that claim, which includes damages as a remedy (as stated in *Scott v. Trans-System*, 148 Wn.2d 701, 717 (2003)?
- 3. Is review appropriate to resolve whether the Court of Appeals and Superior Court erred in permitting a "do-over" on damages alleged but not proven at trial?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

1. The Parties

Defendants are a business group of companies and their principals that operate an automobile import business that imports and sell Canadian vehicles into the United States.

Crossborder Vehicle Sales ("CB Sales") is a Canadian

applied Washington law as to the minority shareholder oppression/breach of fiduciary duty questions.

corporation which purchases, or obtains on consignment, Canadian-registered vehicles and prepares them for import into the U.S. for sale. FTW is a NHTSA licensed automobile importer. The groups Canadian parent company is Crossborder Vehicle Services, which directly owns CB Sales and FTW. Fortin and Enslen are Canadian citizens who are the sole shareholders in these companies and direct the group's operations from British Columbia.

XCar was a licensed motor vehicle dealership that sold FTW/CB Sales' imports. XCar was sold and ceased operations in February 2023, thus Respondent/Plaintiff has no further shareholder interests of concern thereafter.

Respondent began working for CB Sales as an independent contractor in 2013, was later hired by XCar as an employee, and gifted 1/3 of its shares from Enslen and Fortin in April 2014. Unlike Fortin and Enslen, who owned voting shares, Respondent's shares were common, non-voting shares. No shareholders agreement existed. Findings of Fact ¶16. Likewise,

Respondent did not pay for his gifted shares because XCar "was incurring significant losses and had minimal to no value" at the time of transfer and thereafter. Respondent Trial Testimony at Pg., 307, 11:10-13, 380, 11:15-381, 11:4.

Unlike Fortin and Enslen, Respondent never made any capital contributions to XCar (amounting to "millions of dollars"), nor did he ever sign a personal guaranty of XCar's debts as Fortin and Enslen did repeatedly. *Id.* 382, ll:3 – 22; 597, ll:8 – 598, ll:2, 397, ll:17 – 25. Throughout his employment with XCar, Respondent received a six-figure salary as well as periodic profit sharing payments as part of his employment package. Respondent was fired in early 2017 and refused a buyout offer of his shares.

2. The Claims

Respondent filed a complaint alleging "Fortin and Enslen failed to pay [Herdson] dividends to which he was entitled, failed to pay Plaintiff all compensation owing, mischaracterized his promised salary as an advance on dividends, failed to honor

promises made to lure Plaintiff from his prior business, and violated Plaintiff's employment agreement." CP 1. He further claimed Fortin and Enslen breached fiduciary duties owed by misallocating costs and expenses of XCar to depress XCar's profit to avoid paying Respondent profit-sharing. *Id*.

Respondent sought specific injunctive relief (prohibiting XCar from transferring assets and requiring it to return unspecified "improperly taken" assets), the judicial dissolution of XCar pursuant to RCW 12B.14.300 and/or the alternative equitable remedy of a forced buy-back/redemption of Respondent's shares in XCar, and, most importantly for this petition, <u>damages</u> "in an amount to be proven at trial." CP 18 (emphasis added).

B. <u>Pre-Trial Pleadings</u>

In numerous pre-trial pleadings, Respondent claimed he would prove how Fortin and Enslen harmed his minority shareholder interest in XCar and caused him damages. For example, he opposed Defendants' motion for summary judgment

arguing damages could not yet be assessed as "discovery on Defendants' expense allocation scheme [wa]s just beginning, and Herdson's experts have not had the opportunity to analyze the propriety of this scheme under proper accounting principles." CP 704.

Likewise, his experts stated they would "perform a forensic accounting review of the financial activity of XCar." CP 921 – 926. *See also* CP 1677 – 1681. Defendants were ordered to provide access to XCar's accounting software to Respondent's accountants. CP 457 at ¶7.

Respondent was ultimately ordered to quantify his damages. CP 1560 - 1562. He did not do so, instead arguing his damages were somehow limited to the "value of his shares in XCar." CP 1563 - 1578.

C. <u>Trial</u>

This action was heard in a bench trial beginning in November 2021. At trial, Respondent abandoned all theories of damages, and instead focused all efforts on the value of his shares

in XCar. CP 1317 – 1337. Respondent claimed his minority shareholder interest was harmed because Fortin and Enslen failed to pay him dividends, management fees, or profit-sharing, and by them overpaying themselves from XCar. Respondent did not quantify these:

Q. Now isn't it true, Mr. Herdson, with regards to the lost value of dividends, or management fees or profit-sharing, you're not able to quantify any value for those figures, are you?

A. That is correct.

Herdson Trial Testimony, 837, 11:1-5.

Respondent also could not identify any alleged overcharge of service assigned to XCar, claimed he would need "more time to prepare" to present any actual evidence of these types of damages. Herdson Trial Testimony, 609, 11:20 – 610, 11:14.

The Superior Court, over Defendants' objections and despite Defendants submitting a pre-trial witness list of thirteen witnesses (and submitting pre-trial motions to narrow the scope of trial), permitted less than two hours (110 minutes) to

Defendants' case-in-chief, forcing Defendants to limit the witnesses called from 13 to 3. CP 1823, Trial Transcript 1441, ll:13 – 14; 1553 ll, 23 – 24.

D. The Superior Court's Decision

After trial, the Superior Court issued both an oral ruling and written findings of fact and conclusions of law incorporating the oral ruling. The Superior Court noted that the Plaintiff failed to present any evidence of damages:

The defense had mentioned that there were no clear damages proven in many of the cases, many of the claims because there was no expert or no information other than the valuation expert Ms. White from the plaintiffs about the valuation of the shareholders. And I sort of agree with the defense, that there wasn't any precise damages proven to the court of the other claims that require a specific amount of damages.

Oral Opinion, pg. 18:21-25, 19:1-4. (emphasis added).

The Superior Court then dismissed the causes of action for breach of shareholder agreement (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law at ¶98, 99), fraudulent inducement (*Id.* at ¶100, 101), promissory estoppel (*Id.* at ¶102, 103), unjust

enrichment (*Id.* ¶104-106), and accounting (*Id.* at ¶107). The court also rejected Plaintiff's *alter ego* claim. *Id.* at ¶106.

The trial court only found for Herdson on the single claim of minority shareholder oppression (*Id.* at ¶75-97), but noted Respondent had failed to meet an essential element of an independent claim for breach of fiduciary duty:

That to the extent that there's a fiduciary duty violation and it was the basis of the oppressive conduct, the court is finding that, that there was a breach of fiduciary duty. As in terms of independent damages for the fiduciary duty I'm not finding that, because there was no damages shown on that front.

Id. at Pg. 25:6-12.

The Superior Court faulted Defendants' for presenting "limited testimony about how ...profits are accounted for and how they were re-invested" despite preventing Defendants from putting on evidence of precisely that type (for example, Defendants could not call accounting staff due to draconian time constraints). Findings of Fact at 58.

E. The Superior Court's Equitable Remedies

The Superior Court denied all requested remedies by refusing to order (1) a forced buyout/redemption, (2) a judicial dissolution of XCar, (3) an award of damages, and (4) any specific injunctive relief.

Instead, the trial court appointed a receiver with the authority and responsibility to, not only manage XCar's finances indefinitely going forward (ostensibly a type of injunctive relief), but pertinent to this petition, also to go back in time to conduct a forensic audit of XCar from March 2014 to the present "to determine if the costs and fees allocated to XCar … were accurately reflected" — in other words to prove *damages* for Respondent after-the-fact. This would include both pre-trial events and future events. Conclusion of Law 125.

The trial court then made it clear that there would be no due process on this do-over on damages:

Defendants' Counsel: Are you envisioning a trial then down the road again, Your Honor? I'm not quite sure how this is ever going to be effectuated. I can understand you hiring a -- the court appoints a

receiver to go in there and do this accounting and comes up with its recommendations and then we're going to what? Have another trial somewhere six months down the road, is that the court's intention?

The Court: No, I don't think so. I think the court's, you know, a receiver would answer the court's questions and come up with a recommendation and then indicate how the rules that it appeared to get to that. And then the court will adopt the receiver's determination and then move forward from there.

Trial Court's Oral Opinion at Pg. 26 ll: 4-25, pg. 27 ll:1.

The Superior Court later modified its order appointing a receiver by instead appointing a "special fiscal agent" with the impact still being it would (1) conduct a forensic accounting to determine if costs and fees allocated to XCar were appropriate and if there is additional profits that should have been distributed to Respondent, and (2) "oversee XCar's financial operations and accounting records on a continuing basis" until the court is satisfied no further oppression was happening. CP 1762.

F. <u>Post-Trial</u>

The Superior Court appointed a special discovery master to manage the special fiscal agent, and later replaced the entity

serving as special fiscal agent. Defendants sought discretionary review of both orders under Cause No. 848003-I.

Prior to the Court of Appeals handing down its published opinion, XCar's assets were sold to a third-party dealership group. XCar subsequently ceased operations prior to any receiver/special fiscal agent doing any "going forward" work or analysis to protect Respondent from future potential oppression. Thus, with the only type of potential injunctive relief now moot, the only issue remaining in this case (and when the Court of Appeals issued its opinion) is the issue of a backwards-looking damages analysis (essentially a "do-over" on damages that Plaintiff failed to prove at trial). That is the crux of this petition.

G. The Court of Appeals Decision

On May 30, 2023, Division I of the Court of Appeals handed down its published opinion, *Herdson v. Fortin et. al.*, – Wn.2d –, 530 P.3d 220 (2023). The Court affirmed in part and reversed in part. With regards to Defendants challenge to the sufficiency of findings of minority shareholder oppression, the

Court affirmed, holding the Superior Court's finding that (1) Fortin and Enslen refusal to provide XCar's accounting records to Respondent after he was fired, (2) Fortin and Enslen failing to list Respondent on PPP loans during the COVID-19 pandemic, and (3) XCar's failure to comply with transfer-pricing regulations were sufficiently supported by the evidence. *Id.* at 231. This Court should note that, although the Court of Appeals found these three to be actionable oppressive conduct, neither it nor Superior Court ever ordered any injunctive or equitable relief to address this conduct. While a receiver ensure such conduct did not take place again, none of these justify a "do-over" on damages under a retrospective analysis.²

With regard to Respondent's failure to prove any damages, the Court held that, while a minority shareholder oppression

Even though the Court of Appeal's Opinion understood Defendants use of the words "second bite at the apple", it then

proceeded to ignore the result of that problem, choosing instead to simply void the Superior Court's appointment of the special fiscal agent. It did not address the issues pertaining to a "do-

claim is based on breach of fiduciary duty claims, a minority shareholder is not required to prove all elements – including damages – of a breach of fiduciary duty claim.

With regards to Defendants' challenge to the remedies chosen by the Superior Court, the Court largely agreed with Defendants. While the Court noted appointing a receiver is a remedy permitted under precedent, the Superior Court "lacked authority" to appoint a special fiscal agent at the time it did (while review was pending), reversing and remanding this matter to the trial court for further proceedings.

Important here is that, due to XCar's sale and cessation of business operations, any prospective injunctive relief anticipated by the Court (or the trial court) is and was, at the time of the Opinion, no longer possible. Defendants moved for reconsideration of the Court's decision on several grounds; a request that was denied after further briefing on July 31, 2023.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

RAP 13.4(b) provides that a petition for review will be granted by the Washington Supreme Court:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

Multiple grounds exist in this case and Defendants submit that review should be accepted pursuant to its arguments below.

A. Failing to Require a Plaintiff to Prove Damages in a Tort Action is Error

Minority shareholder oppression is the only claim on which Respondent prevailed. While the Court of Appeals focused on the availability of appropriate equitable remedies for that tort which are not limited to monetary damages, this ignores the predicate requirement of proving injury and damages.

It is axiomatic that all tort actions require that the plaintiff to prove duty, breach, causation, and damages. The essential elements to establish liability for breach of fiduciary duty are duty, breach, causation, and damages. 29 David K. DeWolf, Washington Elements of an Action: Breach of Fiduciary Duties, § 11:1 at 313–14 (2010–2011 ed.), Senn v. Nw. Underwriters, Inc., 74 Wn. App. 408, 414, 875 P.2d 647 (1994), In re Cray, *Inc.*, 431 F. Supp. 2d 1114, 1132-33 (W.D. Wash. 2006). It is a basic principle of tort law that, if any of these four elements are not proved, there can be no liability for breach of fiduciary duty. J & J Celcom v. AT & T Wireless Servs., Inc., 215 F. App'x 616, 620 (9th Cir. 2006) (applying Washington law and affirming summary judgment dismissal because, "[b]y presenting no evidence of damages, the minority owners failed to support an essential element of their [breach of fiduciary duty] claim").

A minority owner's claim for oppression arises from a majority owner's fiduciary duties. "Oppressive conduct by majority shareholders is closely related to the fiduciary duty of good faith and fair dealing owed by them to the minority

shareholders." *Scott v. Trans-System*, 148 Wn.2d 701, 711. 65 P.3d 1 (2003).

In Roil Energy, LLC v. Edington, 194 Wn. App. 1030 (2016) (unpublished), Division III collected cases from across the country that hold to the principle explained in Scott. Baur v. Baur Farms, Inc., 832 N.W.2d 663, 670 (Iowa 2013); McLaughlin v. Schenk, 2009, UT 64, 20 P.3d 146, 156; Hayes v. Olmsted & Assocs., Inc., 173 Or. App. 259, 21 P.3d 178, 181 (2001); Hollis v. Hill, 232 F.3d 460, 470 (5th Cir. 2000).

Thus, since damages are a necessary element of breach of fiduciary duty claims, and minority shareholder oppression arises from a fiduciary duty claim, it follows that damages are also necessary to prove minority shareholder oppression "because an action for shareholder oppression is linked to a breach of fiduciary duty, we hold that damages is an element of the cause of action for oppression of a minority owner." *Roil Energy, LLC v. Edington*, 195 Wn. App. 1030, 2016 WL 4132471 (2016) (unpublished).

Other jurisdictions have concurred that a plaintiff must prove a nexus between the harm they suffered and the oppressive conduct. See, e.g., Goldberg v. First Holding Management Co., 2016 WL 3429851 at *6 (Mich. Ct. App. 2016) (unpublished); In re Ionosphere Clubs, Inc., 17 F.3d 600, 605 (2d Cir. 1994) (applying Connecticut law) (oppressive conduct must be directed at the plaintiff personally and not generally harm the corporation); Tarquinio v. Tarquinio, 2016 WL 6560280 at *19 (N.J. Super. Ct. Ch. Div. 2016) (must be a nexus between the defendants' misconduct and the plaintiff's harm and interest in the company); Weiner v. Weiner, 2008 WL 746960 at *6 (W.D. Mich. 2008) (proving injury in minority shareholder oppression claims should be done with expert testimony).

The mere fact that minority shareholder oppression contemplates equitable remedies in addition to monetary damages does not eliminate the necessity for a plaintiff asserting one or more of those claims to prove they were actually injured. Division I recognized this in *Hudson v. Ardent Law Group*,

PLLC, 26 Wn. App.2d 1013 (2023) (explaining a plaintiff must prove *actual* injury to prevail on a breach of fiduciary duty claim, including for injunctive, i.e. equitable, relief), *citing Miller v. U.S. Bank of Wash.*, *N.A.*, 72 Wn. App. 416, 426, 865 P.2d 536 (1994), *Kucera v. Dep't of Transp.*, 140 Wn.2d 200, 209, 995 P.2d 63 (2000). This is consistent with Supreme Court precedent in *Scott*, 148 Wn.2d at 717.

Because a minority shareholders interest in a corporation may be oppressed in ways that do not implicate monetary damages, the Supreme Court in *Scott* has set forth various ways which a court may remedy that oppression which are less drastic than dissolving the corporation. *Id.* For instance, one equitable alternative to dissolution is appointing a "receiver" (which was done here), or "an award of damages to the minority stockholders as compensation for any injury suffered by them as the result of "oppressive" conduct by the majority." *Id.* This simply recognized that one who is injured by another (a breach of

fiduciary duty) is entitled to monetary damages if the same can be proven at trial.

To be sure, a minority shareholder claiming their interest is oppressed can seek, in addition to damages to compensate them for the oppression, injunctive relief to prevent the oppression from happening in the future. But in each instance, a plaintiff must actually prove he was damaged in a way that can be remedied. Scott merely states that after doing so, a superior court need not always dissolve the offending corporation, but instead may also craft certain remedies to make the minority shareholder whole. Since Respondent failed to prove he was harmed (i.e. damaged in any way), the Superior Court and Court of Appeals both recognized this failure but nonetheless did not Review of this issue should be accepted pursuant to reverse. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3).

B. Requiring a Plaintiff to Prove Injury as a Predicate to Damages as a Remedy is Consistent with Other Areas of Substantive Law

The Court of Appeals focuses on the fact damages are merely one type of equitable remedy available in *Scott*, thereby holding that proving damages are not a necessary predicate to minority shareholder oppression. *Herdson*, 530 P.3d 233 – 34, *citing Scott*, 148 Wn.2d 711. This creates an unworkable framework wherein a plaintiff need only prove minority shareholder oppression (i.e, duty and breach) without proving any resulting injury while retaining the full panoply of equitable remedies available in *Scott*. Moreover, it is inconsistent with other areas of law which distinguish between monetary damages as a remedy and damages as an element of a claim.

For example, in consumer protection act claims, "[t]he "injury" element of a CPA claim is distinct from "damages" or other types of remedies." *Bunch v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 180 Wn. App. 37, 45, 321 P.3d 266 (2014), *citing Panag v.*

Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 166 Wn.2d 27, 37, 204 P.3d 885 (2009).

Like minority shareholder oppression, a violation of the CPA permits courts to award a myriad of remedies including injunctive relief (and monetary damages if proven at trial). However, even before a court select a remedy, a plaintiff must first establish a violation. "A plaintiff must first establish a CPA violation before a court may order any CPA remedies." *Bunch*, 180 Wn. App. at 45, *citing* RCW 19.86.090; *see also* 16 David K. DeWolf, Washington Practice: Consumer Protection Act Remedies § 8.10 (3d ed. 2013) ("Upon proof of a violation of the CPA, the plaintiff may receive remedies including actual damages.... In addition to the recovery of damages, a plaintiff may also ask the court to enjoin future violations.").

Because Respondent failed to prove any damages, the trial court cannot maintain and assist in creating a post-trial fishing expedition through the course of a forensic audit what Respondent and his own experts failed to do in pretrial discovery

and then at trial – showing the Plaintiff suffered an amount of compensable damages. Since the decision conflicts with established law, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

C. The Court of Appeals Conflicts with Precedent in Scott and Interlake

The Court of Appeals decision here also conflicts with prior precedent in *Scott v. Trans-System*, *infra* and *Interlake Porsche & Audi v. Blackburn*, 45 Wn. App. 502, 728 P.2d 597 (1986) and pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) review should be accepted.

Scott adheres to the tenet that only after a plaintiff has proven "overreaching conduct" is the burden shifted "to the majority shareholder or shareholders to show there were legitimate business justifications for the conduct" at issue. Scott, 148 Wn.2d at 709. This is due to the "backdrop of established deference to corporate governance." Id. The focus is on a specific interplay between plaintiff and defendant whereby the court considers business operations in a framework where the plaintiff must first demonstrate a particular act or omission was

wrong, and the defendant is then afforded the opportunity to explain the act. *Id*.

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