FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/6/2023 3:00 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102324-3 Court of Appeals No. 83701-0-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CALLUM HERDSON, an individual,

Respondent/Appellee,

v.

RICHARD FORTIN, ROBERT ENSLEN, XCAR INC., FTW SERVICES, INC., XCAR REMARKETING INC., CROSS BORDER VEHICLE SERVICES, INC., and CROSSBORDER VEHICLE SALES, LTD.,

Petitioner/Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Rylan Weythman WSBA #45352 Devra Cohen WSBA #49952 FOSTER GARVEY PC 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (206) 447-4400 Darren L. McCarty
Pro Hac Vice
McCARTY LAW PLLC
1410B West 51st Street

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

IV. ARGUMENT

During trial, Herdson presented overwhelming evidence supporting his claim of minority shareholder oppression—oppression that was deliberate and severe. The Superior Court made lengthy, detailed findings concerning Fortin's conduct and its liability for minority shareholder oppression. Fortin cannot sustain any attack on those factual findings, which the Court of Appeals made clear in a lengthy, reasoned opinion.

To gain this Court's attention, Fortin attempts to: manufacture a split in Washington authority over the elements of

minority shareholder oppression, where there is none; obtain an advisory opinion on a hypothetical remedy; raise for the first time the criminal-law doctrine of structural error; and repeat empty complaints about trial proceedings.

None of these present (1) a conflict between or among decisions of this Court and the state's courts of appeals, or (2) a significant constitutional question, which would warrant review by this Court.³ *See* RAP 13.4(b).

A. Washington Cases Consistently Follow *Scott*'s Interpretation of Washington's Minority Shareholder Oppression Statute

Fortin ignores the statutory and equitable nature of minority shareholder oppression in Washington. *Scott v. Trans-Sys., Inc.*, 148 Wn.2d 701, 716, 64 P.3d 1 (2003) ("Dissolution suits under Washington's dissolution statute are

for review. Herdson does not acquiesce, but at this stage of consideration, does not believe these matters should require this Court to review yet more briefing.

sourt to review yet more oriening.

³ Fortin introduces a number of tangential, disputable facts and legal assertions that are not central to any of the primary claims

fundamentally equitable in nature."). Instead, Fortin suggests that Washington's statute is nothing more than a common-law tort—perhaps a corollary to a breach of fiduciary duty. Fortin has no support for this novel and wrong assertion.

Fortin relies exclusively on one Washington decision, *Roil Energy, LLC v. Edington*, 195 Wn. App. 1030, 2016 WL 4132471 (Aug. 2, 2016) (unpublished). As the Court of Appeals noted in its opinion, *Roil Energy* is an unpublished decision that interprets Nevada law. COA Op. at 10 n.6.

Fortin continues to argue that *Roil Energy* applied Washington, not Nevada, law. No fair reading of *Roil Energy* could conclude that. When discussing the elements of fraud in the paragraph immediately preceding the discussion of minority shareholder oppression, *Roil Energy* cites nothing but Washington cases. *See* 2016 WL 4132471, at *17. But when discussing minority shareholder oppression, *Roil Energy* cites four cases—not one of them from Washington—and omits Washington's leading minority shareholder oppression case,

Scott v. Trans-System, Inc.. See Roil Energy, 2016 WL 4132471, at *17. Roil Energy expressly notes that one of its cited minority shareholder oppression cases applies Nevada law. See id. Roil Energy concludes: "A cause of action for oppression could be considered a species of breach of fiduciary duty. [Counterparty] cites no Nevada law to the contrary." Id.

The likely reason for *Roil Energy*'s alternate analysis and incorporation of common-law fiduciary duty was explained in an opinion from the U.S. Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals: Nevada "does not list oppression among its bases for statutory dissolution," but that "does not preclude the existence of a fiduciary duty." *Hollis v. Hill*, 232 F.3d 460, 468 (5th Cir. 2000). Washington's statute and accompanying interpretations are different from Nevada's. Fortin does not offer even one case interpreting Washington law that supports Fortin's incorrect position.

Washington's statute, RCW 23B.14.300(2)(b), provides that a superior court is authorized to dissolve a corporation if

"[t]he directors or those in control of the corporation have acted, are acting, or will act in a manner that is illegal, oppressive, or fraudulent." RCW 23B.14.300(2)(b). Because the statute does not define oppressive conduct, this Court adopted two primary tests for oppressive conduct:

The first, called the "reasonable expectations" test, defines oppression as a violation by the majority of the reasonable expectations of the minority. Reasonable expectations are those spoken and unspoken understandings on which the founders of a venture rely when commencing the venture. Application of the reasonable expectations test is most appropriate in situations where the complaining shareholder was one of the original participants in the venture—one who would have committed capital and resources.

The second test describes oppression as:

burdensome, harsh and wrongful conduct; a lack of probity and fair dealing in the affairs of a company to the prejudice of some of its members; or a visible departure from the standards of fair dealing, and a violation of fair play on which every shareholder who entrusts his money to a company is entitled to rely.

Scott, 148 Wn.2d at 711 (cleaned up) (citing Gimpel v. Bolstein, 125 Misc. 2d 45, 477 N.Y.S.2d 1014 (N.Y. Sup. Ct.

1984)). These tests are not mutually exclusive, and both may be used in the same case, depending on the facts. *Id.* at 711.

Nowhere to be found in the text of the statute or in this Court's controlling interpretation is a requirement that a quantum of damage be distilled because, at base, the statutory triggers are equitable, focusing strictly on the conduct of those who control the corporation.

In *Scott*, this Court emphasized the wide range of equitable remedies available once oppressive conduct is shown including: appointing a receiver to operate the corporation to curb "oppressive' conduct"; appointing a special fiscal agent under the jurisdiction of the court to protect minority shareholders; an award of damages; and the ordering of an accounting, among others. *Id.* at 717–18. *Scott* leaves no doubt that oppressive

_

⁴ Although oppressive "conduct" against a minority shareholder may be similar to the conduct constituting a breach of fiduciary duty, minority shareholder oppression is of course distinct including in the equitable remedial alternatives available after oppression is demonstrated. *Scott*, 148 Wn.2d at 711 (emphasis added); COA Op. 19-20.

conduct triggering relief under the minority shareholder oppression statute does not merely mimic common law torts, but is far broader in concept and, thereby, its contemplated remedies.

Put simply, "[t]o prevail on [a] minority shareholder oppression claim, [plaintiffs are] required to prove the [sic] (1) [majority shareholder] engaged in oppressive conduct, and (2) there was no legitimate business justification for the conduct." *Real Carriage Door Co., Inc. ex. rel. Rees v. Rees*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 449, 460, 486 P.3d 955, *review denied sub nom. Real Carriage Door Co. Inc. v. Rees*, 198 Wn.2d 1025, 497 P.3d 394 (2021) (interpreting *Scott*, 148 Wn.2d 701). Washington's courts understand well the contours of minority shareholder oppression.

As the uncontroverted facts recited above demonstrate,

Fortin engaged in severe and injurious minority shareholder
oppression against Herdson. The Superior Court saw through
Fortin's attempts to explain away its indefensible conduct—
deeming Fortin's testimony not to be credible—and thus

defeating Fortin's business judgment rule defense. COA Op. at 18.

There is no split of authority or confusion among the courts about the elements of Washington's minority shareholder oppression statute and no need for this Court to address it.

B. Fortin Seeks an Advisory Opinion Concerning a Reversed Remedy

Fortin asked the Court of Appeals to reverse the appointment of the special fiscal agent. The Court of Appeals did reverse and remand the Superior Court's appointment as procedural error under RAP 7.2. COA Op. at 23. The Court of Appeals further directed that the Superior Court, on remand, reconsider an equitable remedy based on "the record before it." COA Op. at 23-24.

Having received what it wanted, Fortin could not, and does not, ask this Court to reverse the Court of Appeals' holding regarding the special fiscal agent. There is no relief for this Court to grant concerning the special fiscal agent. Fortin instead wants this Court to opine upon the substantive propriety of the Superior

Court potentially re-appointing a special fiscal agent based on a record that was neither before the Court of Appeals nor now before this Court.

In other words, Fortin asks this Court to give advice to the Superior Court—or render an advisory opinion concerning a future, hypothetical decision without a full record before it. As the Court knows well, advisory opinions are highly disfavored. See State v. Norby, 122 Wn.2d 258, 269, 858 P.2d 210 (1993) ("Advisory opinions are disfavored by courts."); Dickens v. All. Analytical Labs., LLC, 127 Wn. App. 433, 437, 111 P.3d 889 (2005) ("We decline to give advisory opinions. Thus, our analysis is confined to responding to the limited grant of discretionary review...").

If the Superior Court appoints a special fiscal agent on remand, based upon a different record, Fortin may have grounds to appeal. For now, the issues are not ripe, and there is nothing for this Court to decide. Cf. King Cnty. v. King Cnty. Water Districts Nos. 20, 45, 49, 90, 111, 119, 125, 194 Wn.2d 830, 844,

453 P.3d 681 (2019) ("Such a hypothetical as-applied challenge, however, is both unripe and beyond the scope of the issue before us."). There is no constitutional question or split in authority to address. There is not a basis for this Court's review.

C. Fortin Made No Showing of Unfairness in the Trial Proceedings

As shown above, both parties had the same amount of time to present evidence at trial. The Court of Appeals found that Fortin offered no legal standard or showing of prejudice that would justify disturbing the Superior Court's significant discretion in managing the trial proceedings. COA Op. at 24; *In re Marriage of Zigler*, 154 Wn. App. 803, 815, 226 P.3d 202 (2010). Nothing about the trial proceedings warrants this Court's attention.

D. The Doctrine of Structural Error Does Not Apply and Was Never Raised Below

For the first time in its petition to this Court, Fortin argues that the now-reversed appointment of a special fiscal agent also constitutes "structural error." In addition to this issue being

unripe and any determination advisory, it is also waived because it was not raised prior. Clark Cnty. v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Rev. Bd., 177 Wn.2d 136, 144, 298 P.3d 704 (2013) ("The scope of a given appeal is determined by the notice of appeal, the assignments of error, and the substantive argumentation of the parties."); Joe Chung v. Louie Fong Co., 130 Wash. 154, 163, 226 P. 726 (1924) ("The question ... was not raised in the court below, and the objection is considered waived, and cannot be urged on appeal.").

The doctrine of structural error is also substantively misplaced here. "[F]ive justices of this court explicitly rejected the proposition that the concept of 'structural error' had a place outside of criminal law." *Saleemi v. Doctor's Assocs., Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 368, 385-86, 292 P.3d 108 (2013) (citing *In re Det. of D.F.F.*, 172 Wn.2d 37, 48, 256 P.3d 357 (2011) (J.M. Johnson, J., concurring, joined by Chambers, J.), (Madsen, C.J., dissenting, joined by C. Johnson and Fairhurst, JJ.)); *In re*

Detention of Reyes, 184 Wn.2d 340, 348, 358 P.3d 394 (2015) ("the concept of structural error does not apply to civil cases").

Fortin faces no fundamental unfairness from a now-reversed remedy. It is hypothetical and unripe. It is waived because it was not raised until now. Finally, as a doctrine reserved for criminal cases, structural error gives no path to relief here.

V. CONCLUSION

Herdson respectfully requests this Court deny Fortin's petition for review.

* * *

RAP 18.17(b) Certificate of Compliance with Word Limitations: The undersigned attorneys certify that this answer contains 3,279 words, in compliance with RAP 18.17(c)(10).